

# BATHURST & ORANGE INTER-DISTRICT CRICKET



2022-23
ANNUAL REPORT

# **Contents**

2022-23 DIRECTORY	3
AFFILIATED CLUBS	
CHAIRMANS REPORT	4
FINANCIAL STATEMENT	5
Centennials Bulls withdraw from 2022-23 Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket season	6
SEASON RESULTS	7
FINALS SCORECARDS	14
John Warrington scores a century in Cavaliers' BOIDC grand final victory	18
PLAYER OF THE YEAR	21
TEAM OF THE YEAR	21
SEASON STATISTICS	22
BOIDC PREMIERSHIP WINNERS – McDONALDS CUP	27
BOIDC PLAYER OF THE YEAR WINNERS – SPORTSPOWER CUP	28

**Cover Photo:** Cavaliers players with the BOIDC trophy, celebrating their premiership win

#### **2022-23 DIRECTORY**

# **Committee of Management**

Mark Frecklington Chairman

Stephen Cain Deputy Chairman

Wal Brien Secretary

Liam Dillon Matt Fearnley Peter Jarick

# **AFFILIATED CLUBS**



**Bathurst City** 



**Cavaliers** 



**Centennials Bulls** 



Centrals



**City Colts** 



**CYMS** 



**Orange City** 



ORC



**Rugby Union** 



St Pat's Old Boys

#### **CHAIRMANS REPORT**

It has been with great pleasure that I have chaired this Association, in the fourth season since the reintroduction of the BOIDC competition.

I hope you enjoy this annual report as a bit of a snapshot of our season. We reverted back to the 'standard' mixture of one day and two day cricket aghain this season and what a fantastic season it was. We had some magnificent cricket played during the season which culminated in a classic grand final.

We had some challenges across the season. Firstly the wet ground conditions threatened to create havoc early on, with the first 3 rounds affected by weather. Having grounds prepared in these early weeks was proving to be a real struggle. Then, just before round 5, we lost Centennials Bulls which reduced our competition to 9 teams, creating a bye.

We did what we needed to do to get through these early challenges and what we saw from there was some pretty decent cricket weather and some fantastic cricket.

Orange CYMS surprised everyone and turned around their fortunes from the previous season. They went from second last to the minor premiership, with the limited overs title to boot.

We saw an exceptionally high number of outright results across the 6 rounds of two day matches played. One of those matches between Cavaliers and Orange City was tied on first innings before Cavaliers went on to win outright. The batters seeminly had a field day, with 29 centuries scored. The bowlers saw their fair share of the action too, with  $20 \times 5$  wicket innings hauls and  $2 \times 10$  wicket match hauls.

Thank you to everybody involved in making cricket happen in our towns. From the ground staff and volunteers who prepare the grounds, to the volunteers at the clubs, the umpires and to the administrators at both the Orange and Bathurst District Cricket Associations. Your time and efforts across the past season have been greatly appreciated.

Thank you also to all of the umpires who have stood in BOIDC matches this season and most importantly, thank you to the partners and families that support our players and administrators enabling us all to enjoy this fabulous game.

**Mark Frecklington** 

Chairman

# **FINANCIAL STATEMENT**

**Less Outstanding Accounts** 

NET POSITION 31/05/22

# BATHURST and ORANGE INTER-DISTRICT CRICKET FINANCIAL REPORT

Year ending 31 May 2023

NCOME	From BDCA / ODCA	-
	Club Levies - umpires	15,947.00
	Club Levies - general	900.00
	Scorebooks	200.00
		17,047.00
(PENDITURE	Fair Trading	103.45
	Umpires Fees	16,020.00
	Trophies & Awards	1,056.10
	Scorebooks	-
	Website	412.80
	Domain Name	21.95
		17,614.30
	PROFIT / LOSS	(567.30)
	BALANCE SHEET	
ANK	Balance 1/06/22	1,629.06
	plus Income	17,047.00
	less Expenditure	17,614.30
	Balance 31/05/23	1,061.76

1,061.76

IN THE NEWS - 4 NOVEMBER 2022

# Centennials Bulls withdraw from 2022-23 Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket season

By Bradley Jurd

CENTENNIALS Bulls has cited a lack of depth for its decision to withdraw from the 2022-23 Bathurst Orange District Cricket Association (BOIDC) season.

The Bathurst club made the hard call to withdraw from BOIDC this week, a decision club president Shannon Dawes didn't take lightly. He said the club ultimately had "little choice" to withdraw its first grade team.

"We don't really have the depth in the lower grades to cover our shortages in first grade," he said. "Although we've been short at the start of the season, we were hoping to bring back a few players but we've suffered a few major injuries in recent weeks, which will leave us well short.

"There just wasn't enough players to cover our injuries and not enough in second grade to bring them up into first grade."

But it's not all doom and gloom for Centennials, with Dawes confident that his club will field a team in BOIDC for the 2023-24 season. "Everyone is committed to playing with us next season," he said.

"We've just got to do a bit more of a drive in the off-season to bring a few extra numbers. You can't really run with a neat 11 in first grade. You need to have a few extras to cover you with injuries like this. "We are confident of getting the numbers for next year. We're starting straight up next week, putting the wheels in motion to get our team ready for next year.

"It's disappointing. Was it something we wanted to do? No, but when we looked at every avenue, we had to pull the pin. "We had a meeting on Wednesday night to discuss the issue with the players. We'll probably save ourselves a bit of respect by not dragging the matter on any further."

Dawes said Centennials didn't enter a Bonnor Cup team this season, in order to focus on first grade. "We were confident of putting a team in at the start of the season, so that's why we pulled out of the Bonnor Cup, so that we could concentrate on first grade," he said.

Dawes said while Centennials' financial position is strong, it is lacking in the junior department, with no sides in any junior grades. "We need to shift our focus to the grass roots," he said.

The Bathurst club is fielding a team in Bathurst District Cricket Association second grade and presidents cup competitions.

Dawes said he had been in conversation with BOIDC president Mark Frecklington, who said players registered with Centennials may be able to play for different clubs during the 2022-23 season, before returning to Bulls.

Frecklington confirmed whoever was scheduled to play Centennials will now have a bye instead, but he was yet to confirm how many points a team would receive for a bye. There will now be nine teams in BOIDC for the rest of the season.

Centennials had only played just the one game in BOIDC this season, last Saturday against Orange City in a five-wicket defeat at Morse Park 1. Centennials had been scheduled to play Orange CYMS, Cavaliers and Rugby Union in the opening three games, but all three games were abandon due to wet weather.

#### **SEASON RESULTS**

#### Round 1 - 8 October

City Colts drew O.R.C. at Loco Oval

Orange City drew Cavaliers at Riawena Oval

Orange CYMS drew Centennials Bulls at Wade Park

Bathurst City drew Centrals at George Park 1

St Pat's Old Boys drew Rugby Union at Morse Park 1

#### Round 2 – 15 October

Orange City 7/179 (B Causer 83\* D Rogerson 3/14 D Casey 2/42) def City Colts 149 (H Shoemark 62 EL Skelly 3/35 J Coyte 2/13 E Morrish 2/14 B Causer 3/30) by 30 runs at Wade Park



Rugby Union 114 (S MacPherson 26 M Holmes 3/22 P Shah 2/20) def Bathurst City 73 (J Ruzgas 6/18 J Qureshi 3/17) by 41 runs at Morse Park 2

O.R.C. drew Orange CYMS at Wade Park

**St Pat's Old Boys 4/269** (C Brien 108 C Slattery 101 A Mannering 3/47) **def Centrals 100** (G Judge 31 M Fearnley 3/26 B Broes 2/8 M Taylor 2/22) **by 169 runs** at Riawena Oval

Centennials Bulls drew Cavaliers at George Park 1

#### Round 3 – 22 October

St Pat's Old Boys 3/145 (N Broes 63 A Ryan 41\* C Moxon 2/26) drew Bathurst City at George Park 1

Cavaliers drew O.R.C. 2/91 (H Siegert 42) at Jack Brabham Park 2

Rugby Union 5/210 (J Qureshi 78 O Newton 38\* R Peacock 31 T Singh 26 A Chie 3/33 M Hutchinson 2/38) drew Centennials Bulls at Morse Park 1

City Colts drew Orange CYMS 149 (H Le Lievre 64\* D Rogerson 3/10 D Casey 2/20 M Stephen 2/24) at Loco Oval

Centrals 1/27 drew Orange City at Riawena Oval

#### Round 4 – 29 October

Orange City 5/132 (J Coyte 54 S Grenfell 41 M Hutchinson 3/43) def Centennials Bulls 127 (P McCleary 42 C Windus 29 L Skelly 2/18 E Morrish 2/21) by 5 wickets at Morse Park 2



Orange CYMS 8/193 (M Webster 57 C Tink 36 C Moxon 3/46 M Holmes 2/25) def Bathurst City 143 (C Moxon 34 J Coughlan 3/31 H Le Lievre 3/34 M Webster 2/12 J Austin 2/18) by 50 runs at Wade Park

**St Pat's Old Boys 2/194** (C Brien 67\* A Brown 66 C Slattery 42\*) **def O.R.C. 9/192** (H Parsons 49\* C Slattery 3/31 M Fearnley 3/51 J Webber 2/23) **by 8 wickets** at Morse Park 1

Cavaliers 7/239 (M Corben 91 C Laird 70 H Middleton 26 D Casey 3/37 D Rogerson 2/41) def City Colts 120 (D Casey 41 W Lummis 4/25 K Buckley 2/11 T Blowes 2/39) by 119 runs at Jack Brabham Park 2





Rugby Union 2/178 (J Qureshi 69\* T Singh 55\* K Veney 29) def Centrals 6/177 (A Norton 40 D Kennewell 36\* Y Qureshi 4/29 J Qureshi 2/22) by 8 wickets at George Park 1

#### Round 5 - 5 November

O.R.C. 7/188 (H Parsons 63 D Sellers 45 F Taylor 3/24) def Rugby Union 187 (O Newton 66\* S MacPherson 52 J Ryan 3/49 T McKinnon 3/67) by 3 wickets at Morse Park 1

Orange CYMS 9/238 (T Belmonte 68 W Oldham 31 J Coughlan 30 D Neil 26 F Rose 3/33 L Skelly 2/39 S Grenfell 2/54) def Orange City 137 (N Rosser 48 J Coyte 28 A Dhatt 5/23 H le Lievre 2/12) by 101 runs at Bloomfield Oval

**Bathurst City 9/181** (M Holmes 48 C Schubert 32 M Adikari 26 D Rogerson 3/29 R Gardner 3/30 D Casey 2/36) **def City Colts 8/177** (R Gardner 57 D Casey 29 D Rogerson 28\* C Moxon 3/26 M Holmes 2/21) **by 1 wicket** at George Park 1



Cavaliers 2/174 (M Corben 96\* B Ferguson 46 R Dray 2/21) def Centrals 172 (C Rasmussen 43 D Kennewell 29 A Shepherd 28 H Pearce 3/34 J Ward 2/10 J Thomas 2/29) by 8 wickets at Wade Park

#### St Pat's Old Boys BYE

#### Round 6 – 19 & 26 November

Cavaliers 144 (B Ferguson 65 M Corben 26 L Skelly 8/54 S Grenfell 2/17) and 3/205(dec) (B Ferguson 109 C Laird 66 T Southcombe 3/43) def Orange City 144 (D Burchmore 42 N Rosser 40 J Coyte 28\* W Lummis 4/21 H Pearce 4/62 K Buckley 2/24) and 63 (H Middleton 5/13 K Buckley 3/20) outright at Jack Brabham Park 1

**Bathurst City 8/308(dec)** (C Moxon 100\* M Tobin 90 O Simpson 43 M Holmes 25 R Dray 3/39 D Kennewell 3/94 K Cole 2/62) **def Centrals 284** (A Norton 133 D Caughlan 47 C Rasmussen 25 M Holmes 4/51 C Whale 2/25) **on first innings** at Jack Brabham Park 2



Rugby Union 315 (I Qureshi 123 B Glasson 59 F Taylor 51 T Singh 28 C Slattery 3/47 B Sennett 2/38 C Slattery 2/47 J Webber 2/52) def St Pat's Old Boys 264 (A Brown 67 D Clayton 59 B Brien 42 A Ryan 39 F Taylor 3/35 S MacPherson 3/54) on first innings at Morse Park 1

O.R.C. 9/192(dec) (H Parsons 100\* S Lloyd 36 D Henderson 4/37 N Babcock 2/62) and 1/35 def City Colts 39 (J Ryan 7/10 T McKinnon 3/28) and 187 (J Toole 54 H Shoemark 51 H Parsons 4/18 H Siegert 2/1 T McKinnon 2/40 J Ryan 2/74) outright at George Park 1

#### **Orange CYMS BYE**

#### **Round 7 – 3 & 10 December**

Rugby Union 6/407(dec) (S MacPherson 132 J Qureshi 80\* R Peacock 48 T Singh 41 O Newton 37 L Skelly 3/129 E Morrish 2/118) def Orange City 187 (E Morrish 52 J Coyte 39 S Grenfell 32 N Rosser 25 J Qureshi 4/43 S MacPherson 3/24 B Rayner 2/28) and 3-77 (J Coyte 43\* J Ruzgas 3/13) on first innings at Wade Park

Orange CYMS 9/379(dec) (C Tink 114 W Oldham 85 M Webster 50 T Belmonte 36 M Fearnley 4/82 C Brien 4/83) def St Pat's Old Boys 195 (A Ryan 67\* C Brien 52 D Clayton 36 R Daburger 3/23 M Webster 3/47 A Dhatt 3/52) on first innings at Riawena Oval

O.R.C. 8/234(dec) (B Cant 60 R Franklin 53 T Fitzpatrick 33 H Parsons 30\* W Sellers 25 S Pullar 4/43 G Faul 2/68) and 1/37 def Centrals 124 (N Rasmussen 39 J Ryan 3/28 T Borgstahl 3/30) and 143 (A Shepherd 62 A Norton 29 T Borgstahl 5/44 H Siegert 3/19) outright at Bloomfield Oval



Cavaliers 5/279(dec) (B Ferguson 116 C Laird 111 L Cain 3/78) def Bathurst City 104 (P McCleary 34 K Buckley 4/34 H Middleton 2/11 J Thomas 2/20 W Lummis 2/29) and 84 (M Holmes 29 B Ferguson 3/8 K Buckley 3/30) outright at George Park 1

#### **City Colts BYE**

#### Round 8 - 17 December

O.R.C. 9/215 (D Sellers 44 W Sellers 28 T McKinnon 28 T Fitzpatrick 28 R Franklin 26 H Siegert 26 O Simpson 4/29 L Cain 2/53) def Bathurst City 120 (C Moxon 30 H Parsons 3/19 T McKinnon 3/36 J Ryan 2/18 J Stephenson 2/38) by 95 runs at Morse Park 2

Orange CYMS 8/221 (D Neil 77 J Coughlan 33 R Daburger 29\* T Belmonte 27 J Thomas 3/32 H Middleton 2/42 H Pearce 2/54) def Cavaliers 9/191 (H Middleton 43 J Warrington 33\* C Laird 33 M Corben 29 P Gott 3/34 H Le Lievre 2/23 A Dhatt 2/40) by 30 runs at Wade Park



City Colts 5/232 (J Toole 94 H Shoemark 51 R Gardner 43 B Rayner 2/41) def Rugby union 205 (J Qureshi 68 B Glasson 50 F Taylor 30 D Henderson 5/22 M Sheather 3/27) by 27 runs at Morse Park 1

Orange City 161 (J Coyte 51 S Broes 3/18 B Brien 3/29) def St Pat's Old Boys 4/159 (A Ryan 54\* C Slattery 49 T Southcombe 2/26) by 2 runs at George Park 1



#### Round 9 - 7 January

St Pat's Old Boys 4/256 (B Brien 110 A Brown 54 C Brien 32 A Ryan 25\*) def Cavaliers 160 (H Middleton 54 M Corben 45 C Slattery 3/26 C Brien 2/10 B Brien 2/21 J Webber 2/38) by 96 runs at Wade Park

Orange CYMS 6/210 (J Coughlan 74 D Neil 42 L Hunter 40 S MacPherson 3/23 Z Newham 2/35) def Rugby Union 197 (O Newton 69 F Taylor 43 K Veney 33 M Webster 4/36 J Austin 2/33 R Daburger 2/37) by 13 runs at George Park 1

**Bathurst City 4/223** (M Hutchinson 66 M Adhikari 53 C Schubert 45 M Day 40\* F Rose 2/17) **def Orange City 8/220** (J Coyte 55 D Burchmore 45 L Harper 36 T Markey 32\* M Hutchinson 3/32 C Moxon 2/60) at Bloomfield Oval



City Colts 3/261 (H Shoemark 115\* J Toole 63 R Gardner 51) def Centrals 81 (S Adhikari 30 D Kennewell 29 D Rogerson 5/26 C Stephen 2/14 D Henderson 2/27) by 180 runs at Loco Oval

#### O.R.C. BYE

#### Round 10 - 14 January



Symington 2/54) by 84 runs at Morse Park 1

Orange CYMS 4/200 (W Oldham 107 J Coughlan 64 D Neil 39 C Tink 25\* G Faul 2/42) def Centrals 122 (A Norton 26 K Gander 25 H Le Lievre 4/11 R Daburger 2/16 L Wykes 2/20) by 78 runs at Wade Park

O.R.C. 4/74 (D Sellers 29 L Skelly 3/13) def Orange City 71 (T Borgstahl 3/10 T McKinnon 3/17 J Stephenson 2/14) by 6 wickets at George Park 1

City Colts 9/193 (R Gardner 51 O Shoemark 38 J Toole 37 M Taylor 3/21 A Brown 2/20) def St Pat's Old Boys 109 (C Brien 46 J Webber 25\* C Stephen 3/13 D Rogerson 3/15 I

**Rugby Union 6/130** (O Newton 56 R Peacock 53 K Buckley 3/46 S Fairley 2/5) **def Cavaliers 128** (S Fairley 26 J Ruzgas 4/26 Z Newham 3/15 J Qureshi 2/13) **by 4 wickets** at Riawena Oval

#### **Bathurst City BYE**

#### Round 11 - 21 & 28 January

Orange CYMS 138 (T Belmonte 55 D Rogerson 3/49 R Gardner 2/12 D Casey 2/25) and 4/131 (T Belmonte 72\* W Oldham 29 D Henderson 2/40) def City Colts 53 (J Coughlan 2/0 M Webster 2/12 A Wilson 2/18) and 215 (H Shoemark 131 I Symington 25 M Webster 3/42 J Coughlan 3/100 L Wykes 2/32) outright at Riawena Oval

Cavaliers 148 (M Corben 50 H Middleton 42 T McKinnon 6/60 T Borgstahl 2/12) and 4/48 (B Ferguson 32\* T McKinnon 3/30) def O.R.C. 100 (R Webb 31 H Parsons 25 S Fairley 5/29 J Thomas 3/13



J Ward 2/4) and 187 (H Parsons 52 H Siegert 47 S Fairley 3/52 M Corben 2/0 K Buckley 2/49) on first innings at Morse Park 1



St Pat's Old Boys 221 (C Brien 107 A Ryan 70 B Kreuzberger 6/47 M Holmes 3/44) def Bathurst City 182 (M Holmes 51 O Simpson 38 J Knox 32 J Webber 4/31 M Fearnley 2/14 S Broes 2/14 E Comerford 2/21) and 7/124 (C Schubert 31 C Slattery 2/8 M Fearnley 2/22) on first innings at Morse Park 1

Orange City 9/116(dec) (S Kirby 31\* E Morrish 26 R Dray 4/24 S Adhikari 2/13) and 3/90 (J Coyte 47\* R Dray 2/18) def Centrals 113 (K Nonnenmacher 32 E Morrish 6/25 S Grenfell 2/21) and 92 (A Norton 29 E Morrish 5/14 B Johnson 2/26) outright at Wade Park

#### **Rugby Union BYE**

#### Round 12 - 4 & 11 February

**St Pat's Old Boys 7-163(dec)** (C Brien 102 D Kennewell 2/21 S Pullar 2/22 A Mannering 2/36) **and 2/50** (B Brien 27) **def Centrals 109** (A Norton 45 M Fearnley 4/21 C Slattery 4/33) **and 103** (C Slattery 4/34 H Goodsell 3/12) **outright** at Morse Park 1

City Colts 7/284(dec) (D Casey 100\* R Gardner 74 G Mangan 28\* B Johnson 4/63 L Harper 2/35) and 3/12 (S Grenfell 2/7) def Orange City 80 (J Coyte 28 D Henderson 9/23) and 215 (S Grenfell 76 J Coyte 36 E Morrish 35 L Harper 29 M Stephen 3/26 D Rogerson 3/27) outright at Loco Oval

Rugby Union 3/174(dec) (H Taylor 78 T Singh 67\* M Holmes 2/59) def Bathurst City 102 (C Schubert 28 S MacPherson 4/22 Y Qureshi 3/26 F Taylor 2/9) and 6/216 (C Baker 57 C Whale 46 C Schubert 45 Y Qureshi 3/51) on first innings at George Park 1

Orange CYMS 8/328 (C Tink 70 R Daburger 55 B Wykes 48 M Webster 40 J Coughlan 38 T Belmonte 28 D Neil 25 A Mitton 3/69 T Borgstahl 2/39) drew O.R.C. at Riawena Oval



#### **Cavaliers BYE**

#### Round 13 - 18 & 25 February



Rugby Union 5/359(dec) (R Peacock 134 H Taylor 101 J Qureshi 56\* L Coad 30 H Parsons 2/101) def O.R.C. 81 (S MacPherson 5/12 F Taylor 2/9 B Rayner 2/29) and 8/153 (T Borgstahl 36\* D Sellers 33 T McKinnon 32 F Taylor 3/24 J Ruzgas 2/32) on first innings at George Park 1

Orange CYMS 306 (J Coughlan 105 D Neil 66 R Daburger 36 T Belmonte 27 W Oldham 25 L Skelly 5/101 T Markey 2/22 B Johnson 2/80) drew Orange City 9/272 (E Morrish 123\* J Coyte 40 L Skelly 37 P Gott 2/17 R Daburger 2/56 J Coughlan 2/49) at Wade Park

Cavaliers 3/135(dec) (M Corben 72 C Laird 57\* D Caughlan 2/21) and 0/83 (M Corben 46\* B Ferguson 35\*) def Centrals 102 (K Gander 36 S Fairley 6/23 K Buckley 2/13 J Thomas 2/26) and 110 (M Powell 47 K Nonnenmacher 28 W Lummis 3/16 S Fairley 3/24 J Ward 2/17) outright at Riawena Oval

City Colts 5/278(dec) (R Gardner 105\* H Shoemark 34 J Toole 34 C Stephen 28\* O Shoemark 26 D Casey 25 C Moxon 2/79) def Bathurst City 174 (C Schubert 38 M Tobin 31\* M Stephen 5/29 C Stephen 2/7 D Rogerson 2/49) on first innings at Morse Park 1

St Pat's Old Boys BYE

#### Round 14 - 4 & 11 March

Orange CYMS 5/282 (D Neil 110\* J Coughlan 56 C Tink 41\* T Belmonte 37 C Schubert 2/76 C Moxon 2/94) def Bathurst City 277 (J Knox 103 C Whale 43 C Schubert 41 M Day 28 H Le Lievre 3/50 R Daburger 2/51) on first innings at Morse Park 1

Cavaliers 7/270(dec) (M Corben 121 H Middleton 39\* E Urquhart 31 J Warrington 26 W Lummis 26 D Casey 3/82) def City Colts 97 (H Shoemark 33 J Ward 5/14 K Buckley 4/42) and 4/169 (H Shoemark 102 C Stephen 30\* T Blowes 2/14 K Buckley 2/59) on first innings at Loco Oval

St Pat's Old Boys 5/319 (B Brien 98 C Brien 74 D Clayton 56 C Slattery 45\* A Brown 29 J Ryan 2/90) def O.R.C. 315 (W Sellers 61 H Siegert 53 T Fitzpatrick 53 D Sellers 51 A Mitton 45 T Borgstahl 36\* M Fearnley 4/44 A Ryan 2/30 J Webber 2/42 C Slattery 2/82) on first innings at George Park 1



**Rugby Union 5/193(dec)** (H Taylor 72 J Qureshi 61\* O Newton 25 D Kennewell 3/55) **def Centrals 119** (M Powell 39 J Ruzgas 3/27 B Rayner 3/28 F Taylor 2/14) **and 9/139** (M Powell 30 S MacPherson 6/51 J Qureshi 3/16) **on first innings** at Wade Park

**Orange City BYE** 

# **FINAL POINTS TABLE**

		Pl	Bye	wo	WI	T	D	LI	LO	Pts	Quot
1	Orange CYMS	13	1	1	6	0	5	0	0	76	
2	Cavaliers	13	1	3	3	0	3	3	0	73	
3	Rugby Union	13	1	0	7	0	2	3	0	62	1.66
4	St Pat's Old Boys	12	2	1	3	0	2	4	0	62	1.61
5	O.R.C.	13	1	2	2	0	4	4	0	62	0.98
6	City Colts	13	1	1	3	0	2	4	2	50	
7	Orange City	13	1	1	2	0	3	4	2	48	
8	Bathurst City	13	1	0	2	0	2	7	1	30	
9	Centrals	13	1	0	0	0	2	7	4	12	



#### **FINALS SCORECARDS**

# Qualifying Semi Final CYMS v Cavaliers

# 18 & 19 March 2023 at Wade Park, Orange

Umpires: Graeme Glazebrook & Andrew Whale Toss won by: Cavaliers who elected to bat first

Result: Cavaliers won on first innings

CAVALIERS -	- 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
B Ferguson	c Tink b Webster	5	M Webster	22	6	59	3
M Corben (c)	b Gott	15	P Gott	9	2	24	2
C Laird	c & b Webster	2	J Austin	10	3	41	1
J Warrington	c Tink b Gott	5	L Wykes	5	1	17	0
W Lummis	c Tink b Austin	13	R Daburger	16	2	48	1
E Urquhart	b Le Lievre	32	H Le Lievre	13	2	27	1
H Middleton	c Austin b Webster	63	J Coughlan	17	6	33	0
S Fairley	run out (Hunter)	18	L Hunter	1	0	1	0
K Buckley	c & b Daburger	31					
J Ward	not out	28					
H Pearce	not out	32					
J Thomas							
Extras	(nb 6, w 0, b 1, lb 2)	9					
Total	9 (dec) for	253					
	Overs 93						

FOW: 1-10 Ferguson, 2-12 Laird, 3-28 Corben, 4-29 Warrington, 5-49 Lummis, 6-109 Urquhart, 7-145 Middleton, 8-179 Fairley, 9-200 Buckley

ORANGE CYN	MS - 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
W Oldham	run out (Middleton)	35	K Buckley	19	4	48	1
J Coughlan	c Ferguson b Buckley	38	H Pearce	7	1	36	1
C Tink	c Corben b Pearce	1	S Fairley	16	7	30	2
T Belmonte (c)	c Lummis b Fairley	12	J Ward	8.4	5	6	4
D Neil	c Laird b Fairley	3	H Middleton	4	2	4	0
L Hunter	c Laird b Ward	2	W Lummis	6	4	8	1
R Daburger	c Corben b Ward	0	B Ferguson	2	0	8	0
M Webster	c Urquhart b Lummis	29	J Thomas	2	1	1	0
H Le Lievre	b Ward	0	C Laird	3	0	10	0
J Austin	not out	23					
L Wykes	c Laird b Ward	0					
P Gott							
Extras	(nb 7, w 1, b 3, lb 4)	15					
Total		158					
	Overs 67.4						

**FOW:** 1-43 Coughlan, 2-44 Tink, 3-58 Belmonte, 4-82 Neil, 5-98 Hunter, 6-98 Daburger, 7-98 Oldham, 8-98 Le Lievre, 9-158 Webster, 10-158 Austin

# Elimination Semi Final Rugby Union v St Pats Old Boys

# 18 & 19 March 2023 at Morse Park 1, Bathurst

Umpires: Greg Jones & Steve Warrington Toss won by: Rugby Union who elected to field first

Result: Rugby Union won on first innings

ST PAT'S OL	.D BOYS – 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
B Brien	lbw Ruzgas	0	J Ruzgas	16	2	34	2
A Brown	c H Taylor b Rayner	2	B Rayner	9	3	14	2
C Brien	c Glasson b Rayner	7	S MacPherson	13	3	24	0
C Slattery	c H Taylor b Ruzgas	0	F Taylor	7	2	26	4
A Ryan	lbw F Taylor	25	J Qureshi	3.2	1	8	1
J Willcox	c & b J Qureshi	33	Y Qureshi	3	0	8	1
D Clayton	lbw F Taylor	0					
B Cutmore	b F Taylor	0					
H Goodsell	c MacPherson b F Taylor	20					
J Webber	c b Y Qureshi	24					
E Comerford	not out	0					
M Fearnley							
Extras	(nb 3, w 0, b 3, lb 0)	6					
Total		117					
	Overs 51.2						

FOW: 1-0 B Brien, 2-8 Brown, 3-9 C Brien, 4-13 Slattery, 5-40 Ryan, 6-40 Clayton, 7-40 Cutmore, 8-73 Goodsell, 9-117 Webber, 10-117 Comerford

<b>RUGBY UNION</b>	– 1st Innings			Bowling	0	M	R	W
S MacPherson	c Fearnley b Webber		76	J Webber	14	3	39	1
H Taylor	c Goodsell b C Brien		13	M Fearnley	7	0	21	1
I Qureshi	not out		34	C Slattery	6	1	32	0
T Singh	c C Brien b Comerford		16	H Goodsell	8	1	26	1
K Veney	lbw Fearnley		7	C Brien	4	0	27	1
Y Qureshi	b Goodsell		42	B Brien	5	1	23	0
J Qureshi	not out		6	E Comerford	3	1	10	1
B Glasson				B Cutmore	7	1	18	0
L Coad				A Ryan	4	3	4	0
F Taylor								
J Ruzgas								
B Rayner								
Extras	(nb 2, w 0, b 16, lb 5)		23					
Total		5 for	217					
	Overs 58							
EOW: 1 42 H	Toylor 2.06 Maanharaan	2 115 0:5	ah / 12	0 Vanay E 200 V O	ıroobi			

FOW: 1-43 H Taylor, 2-96 Macpherson, 3-115 Singh, 4-138 Veney, 5-200 Y Qureshi

# Preliminary Final CYMS v Rugby Union

# 25 & 26 March 2023 at Wade Park, Orange

Umpires: Graeme Glazebrook & Greg Jones Toss won by: Rugby Union who elected to field first

Result: Match drawn

ORANGE CYN	MS – 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
J Coughlan	c F Taylor b Ruzgas	15	J Ruzgas	27	8	71	4
R Daburger	b Ruzgas	24	B Rayner	15	2	48	0
W Oldham	b Ruzgas	23	F Taylor	23	5	78	2
C Tink	not out	124	S MacPherson	26	12	26	1
T Belmonte (c)	c Coad b MacPherson	24	Y Qureshi	17	4	38	0
D Neil	c Singh b J Qureshi	9	J Qureshi	24	7	32	1
L Hunter	b F Taylor	25	T Singh	3	0	9	0
J Austin	c Newton b Ruzgas	4	H Taylor	3	1	6	0
M Webster	c H Taylor b F Taylor	42					
H Le Lievre	not out	7					
L Wykes							
P Gott							
Extras	(nb 6, w 5, b 5, lb 3)	19					
Total		8 for 316					
	Overs 138						

**FOW:** 1-17 Coughlan, 2-67 Oldham, 3-68 Daburger, 4-114 Belmonte, 5-133 Neil, 6-185 Hunter, 7-193 Austin, 8-299 Webster

#### **RUGBY UNION team**

S MacPherson (c), L Coad, B Glasson, O Newton, I Qureshi, J Qureshi, Y Qureshi, B Rayner, J Ruzgas, T Singh, H Taylor, F Taylor



# Grand Final Cavaliers v CYMS

# 1 & 2 April 2023 at Wade Park, Orange

Umpires: Graeme Glazebrook & Greg Jones Toss won by: Cavaliers who elected to bat first

Result: Cavaliers won on first innings

Player of the Match: John Warrington (Cavaliers)

CAVALIERS -	1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
M Corben (c)	c Tink b Gott	29	M Webster	20.5	6	55	3
J Warrington	not out	117	P Gott	12	2	28	1
C Laird	c Austin b Daburger	30	L Wykes	8	1	25	0
B Ferguson	c b Daburger	8	H Le Lievre	14	2	59	3
W Lummis	c Oldham b Daburger	29	J Austin	12	5	24	0
E Urquhart	c Tink b Le Lievre	8	R Daburger	17	4	62	3
H Middleton	b Le Lievre	5	J Coughlan	7	3	8	0
T Blowes	b Le Lievre	5					
S Fairley	c Hunter b Webster	15					
K Buckley	lbw Webster	4					
J Ward	b Webster	0					
H Pearce							
Extras	(nb 11, w 0, b 1, lb 7)	19					
Total		269					
	Overs 90.5						

**FOW:** 1-36 Corben, 2-80 Laird, 3-96 Ferguson, 4-126 Lummis, 5-167 Urquhart, 6-180 Middleton, 7-192 Blowes, 8-261 Fairley, 9-269 Buckley, 10-269 Ward

CYMS – 1st In	nings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
W Oldham	Ibw Pearce	23	K Buckley	23.3	3	71	4
J Coughlan	b Buckley	10	H Pearce	17	8	30	1
T Belmonte (c)	c & b Buckley	17	S Fairley	4	0	9	0
C Tink	c b Ward	62	J Ward	21	2	75	3
D Neil	lbw Ward	25	T Blowes	14	0	42	1
M Webster	run out	7					
L Hunter	c b Blowes	13					
R Daburger	c Middleton b Buckley	33					
H Le Lievre	c b Ward	26					
J Austin	b Buckley	3					
L Wykes	not out	2					
P Gott							
Extras	(nb 6, w 0, b 0, lb 4)	10					
Total		231					
	Overs 79.3						

**FOW:** 1-14 Coughlan, 2-51 Oldham, 3-62 Belmonte, 4-117 Neil, 5-129 Webster, 6-151 Hunter, 7-169 Tink, 8-219 Le Lievre, 9-226 Austin, 10-231 Daburger

IN THE NEWS - APRIL 2 2023

# John Warrington scores a century in Cavaliers' BOIDC grand final victory

By Lachlan Harper



Cavaliers' premiership winning side. Picture by Lachlan Harper

In the lead up to the Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket grand final between CYMS and Cavaliers, two predictions were made. One was by Cavaliers captain Matt Corben, who stated Kyle Buckley would be his man if a partnership needed to be broken. The second was by John Warrington that he would make a hundred. Albeit, jokingly he said. Both came true, and both resulted in a clinical Cavaliers victory.

For Corben, the win was hard to put into words. "It's amazing, that's a pretty clinical performance from us to bowl them out on a pretty flat deck and score 270 in a grand final," he said. "That doesn't lose many grand finals and for Johnny Warrington to carry his bat in the grand final is unreal, I'm lost for words."

The men in maroon set the platform on day one when they were 7/234 at the end of the day. A hundred of those runs came from opener Warrington, who showed the importance of patience and trusting your defence with a sensational innings.

Cavaliers resumed the day and batted for a further 11 overs before they were bowled out for 269, with Warrington 117 not out.

Warrington put his innings down to sticking to a game plan, after watching a number of his teammates fall in similar ways with CYMS taking plenty of catches. "I was saying all week jokingly that I was going to score a hundred and then for it to actually happen and do it in the fashion I did was pretty surreal to be honest," he said.

"The main point was that if a wicket was lost stick to my game plan, and I knew runs would come because the pitch was pretty flat. "I just had to be patient, I was on 25 after the two hour mark, I knew if I batted the way I bat the runs would come."

Knowing they needed to score runs at a decent pace before the day finished, CYMS opener Joey Coughlan started with two boundaries before he was bowled by Buckley for 10.

A steady flow of wickets then came for the Cavaliers machine with CYMS 3/62. Charlie Tink and Dave Neil came together and offered stability in the middle, combining for a 55-run partnership before the latter was trapped in front for 25.

Slowly more wickets came, and the dismissal of Tink (62) at 7/169 would've had Cavaliers thinking one hand was on the trophy. Rory Daburger and Hugh Le Lievre then swung momentum back in CYMS' favour with a 50-run partnership. Josh Ward, who bowled 20 overs straight in the game, removed Le Lievre for 21, leaving not much in the tank for CYMS.

Then the bowler that Corben named his danger man stepped up. First Buckley bowled Jamie Austin for 4, and then had Rory Daburger caught on the boundary by Hugh Middleton, leaving CYMS short of the required total and Cavaliers to celebrate in each others arms.

With Buckley claiming four wickets, Corben was full of praise for his opening bowler. "He's whacked us on our shoulders a few times this season and grown a leg with Harry Pearce being injured," he said. "I think he's stood up and taken that leader role and did it again today - Josh Ward bowling 20 straight was unreal too."

Cavaliers' victory makes it two titles for the year in first grade after the club snapped up the Royal Hotel Bonnor Cup too, along with wins in second grade and Centenary Cup.

Corben put his side's success down to a team-first attitude. "I think it is the way we play selfless cricket, there's not one innings where the players come first before the team," he said. "The players have put the team first and done what needed to be done in the games and that gets results."

Warrington was awarded player of the match for his century while Cooper Brien won player of the season.





















#### **PLAYER OF THE YEAR**

**Cooper Brien** St Pats Old Boys



#### Player of the Year points

Player	Club	Pts
Cooper Brien	St Pat's Old Boys	14
Matt Corben	Cavaliers	13
Josh Coyte	Orange City	13
Sam Macpherson	Rugby Union	11
Jameel Qureshi	Rugby Union	10
Tim McKinnon	ORC	9
Henry Shoemark	City Colts	8
Joey Coughlan	CYMS	7
Hugh Parsons	ORC	7
Mac Webster	CYMS	7
Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys	7
Dave Henderson	City Colts	6
David Neil	CYMS	6
Ryan Peacock	Rugby Union	6
Charlie Tink	CYMS	6
Matt Holmes	Bathurst City	6
Ed Morrish	Orange City	6
Oliver Newton	Rugby Union	6

#### **TEAM OF THE YEAR**

Henry Shoemark City Colts

Matt Corben (c) & wk Cavaliers

Cooper Brien St Pat's Old Boys

Bailey Ferguson Cavaliers

Jameel Qureshi Rugby Union

David Neil Orange CYMS

Joshua Coyte Orange City

Sam MacPherson Rugby Union

Dave Rogerson City Colts

Lachlan Skelly Orange City

Dave Henderson City Colts

Kyle Buckley Cavaliers



# **SEASON STATISTICS**

# **Leading Run Scorers**

Runs	Player	Club	M	H Score	100	50	Avg
628	Henry Shoemark	City Colts	10	131	3	6	52.33
611	Matt Corben	Cavaliers	11	121	1	5	61.10
608	Cooper Brien	St Pat's Old Boys	11	108	3	6	76.00
482	Joshua Coyte	Orange City	11	55	0	3	43.82
448	Bailey Ferguson	Cavaliers	10	116	2	3	44.80
436	Jameel Qureshi	Rugby Union	11	80 no	0	6	72.67
434	David Neil	Orange CYMS	10	110 no	1	3	54.25
417	Russell Gardner	City Colts	11	105 no	1	5	37.91
416	Joey Coughlan	Orange CYMS	11	105	1	4	34.67
381	Cameron Laird	Cavaliers	11	111	1	4	34.64
368	Josh Toole	City Colts	10	94	0	3	30.67
364	Tom Belmonte	Orange CYMS	11	72 no	0	3	33.09
356	Charlie Tink	CYMS	11	114	1	2	44.50
352	Angus Norton	Centrals	10	133	1	1	29.33
343	Adam Ryan	St Pat's Old Boys	9	70	0	3	85.75
341	Will Oldham	Orange CYMS	11	107	1	2	31.00
333	Oliver Newton	Rugby Union	12	69	0	3	47.57
322	Bailey Brien	St Pat's Old Boys	8	110	1	2	35.78
322	<b>Hugh Parsons</b>	ORC	9	100 no	1	3	64.40
319	Cohen Schubert	Bathurst City	12	45	0	0	22.79



Henry Shoemark in action for City Colts

# Centuries

Score	Player	Club	Rd	Inns	Opponent
108	Cooper Brien	St Pats Old Boys	2	1	Centrals
101	Connor Slattery	St Pats Old Boys	2	1	Centrals
100 no	Clint Moxon	Bathurst City	6	1	Centrals
133	Angus Norton	Centrals	6	1	Bathurst City
100 no	Hugh Parsons	ORC	6	1	City Colts
123	Imran Qureshi	Rugby Union	6	1	St Pat's Old Boys
109	Bailey Ferguson	Cavaliers	6	2	Orange City
116	Bailey Ferguson	Cavaliers	7	1	Bathurst City
111	Cam Laird	Cavaliers	7	1	Bathurst City
114	Charlie Tink	Orange CYMS	7	1	St Pat's Old Boys
110	Bailey Brien	St Pats Old Boys	9	1	Cavaliers
115 no	Henry Shoemark	City Colts	9	1	Centrals
107	Will Oldham	Orange CYMS	10	1	Centrals
107	Cooper Brien	St Pats Old Boys	11	1	Bathurst City
131	Henry Shoemark	City Colts	11	2	Orange CYMS
102	Cooper Brien	St Pats Old Boys	12	1	Centrals
100 no	Dan Casey	City Colts	12	1	Orange City
105 no	Russell Gardner	City Colts	13	1	Bathurst City
105	Joey Coughlan	Orange CYMS	13	1	Orange City
123 no	Ed Morrish	Orange City	13	1	Orange CYMS
134	Ryan Peacock	Rugby Union	13	1	ORC
101	Hugh Taylor	Rugby Union	13	1	ORC
121	Matt Corben	Cavaliers	14	1	City Colts
103	Joshua Knox	Bathurst City	14	1	Orange CYMS
110 no	Dave Neil	Orange CYMS	14	1	Bathurst City
102 no	Henry Shoemark	City Colts	14	2	Cavaliers
124 no	Charlie Tink	Orange CYMS	PF	1	Rugby Union
117 no	John Warrington	Cavaliers	GF	1	Orange CYMS

# **Leading Wicket Takers**

Wkts	Player	Club	M	Avg	SR	Econ	5wi	10wm	Best
30	Buckley, Kyle	Cavaliers	11	15.83	27.83	3.41	0	0	4-34
29	Rogerson, Dave	City Colts	12	15.38	23.41	3.94	1	0	5-26
29	Skelly, Lachlan	Orange City	12	20.52	28.24	4.37	2	0	8-54
28	Macpherson, Sam	Rugby Union	11	11.82	23.54	3.02	2	0	6-51
28	Henderson, Dave	City Colts	11	14.86	28.61	3.12	2	1	9-23
26	Mckinnon, Tim	ORC	11	19.38	26.88	4.33	1	0	6-60
24	Fearnley, Matt	St Pats Old Boys	11	15.46	22.89	4.06	0	0	4-21
24	Slattery, Connor	St Pats Old Boys	11	16.71	36.00	2.78	0	0	4-33
24	Ryan, Jacob	ORC	11	20.88	33.00	3.80	1	0	7-10
21	Morrish, Edward	Orange City	10	14.71	24.71	3.58	2	1	6-25
20	Fairley, Steve	Cavaliers	4	8.40	24.55	2.06	2	0	6-23
19	Ruzgas, Jonah	Rugby Union	11	21.37	41.84	3.07	1	0	6-18
17	Moxon, Clint	Bathurst City	12	33.65	42.12	4.80	0	0	3-26
16	Qureshi, Jameel	Rugby Union	11	14.25	23.25	3.68	0	0	4-43
16	Borgstahl, Tait	ORC	10	15.63	24.19	3.89	1	0	5-44
16	Holmes, Matt	Bathurst City	11	17.69	28.69	3.71	0	0	4-51
16	Taylor, Flynn	Rugby Union	12	19.63	34.87	3.39	0	0	3-24
15	Webster, Mac	Orange CYMS	6	13.00	24.40	3.20	0	0	4-36
15	Le Lievre, Hugh	Orange CYMS	9	13.87	22.27	3.75	0	0	4-11
15	Casey, Dan	City Colts	11	17.53	19.60	5.37	0	0	3-37
15	Dray, Rowan	Centrals	9	19.53	27.53	4.28	0	0	4-24



**Kyle Buckley in action for Cavaliers** 



# 5 wickets in an innings

Player	Club	0	M	R	W	Rd	Inns	Opponent
Jonah Ruzgas	Rugby Union	6.5	0	18	6	2	1	Bathurst City
Allan Dhatt	Orange CYMS	8	2	23	5	5	1	Orange City
Jacob Ryan	ORC	10	4	10	7	6	1	City Colts
Lachlan Skelly	Orange City	16	5	54	8	6	1	Cavaliers
Hugh Middleton	Cavaliers	10	6	13	5	6	2	Orange City
Tait Borgstahl	ORC	13	4	44	5	7	2	Centrals
Dave Henderson	City Colts	8	3	22	5	8	1	Rugby Union
Dave Rogerson	City Colts	5.3	1	26	5	9	1	Centrals
Steve Fairley	Cavaliers	20	9	29	5	11	1	ORC
Ed Morrish	Orange City	13	4	25	6	11	1	Centrals
Blake Kreuzberger	Bathurst City	11.5	1	47	6	11	1	St Pat's Old Boys
Tim McKinnon	ORC	18	5	60	6	11	1	Cavaliers
Ed Morrish	Orange City	7.5	4	14	5	11	2	Centrals
Dave Henderson	City Colts	13	6	23	9	12	1	Orange City
Matt Stephen	City Colts	13.1	4	29	5	13	1	Bathurst City
Steve Fairley	Cavaliers	14.1	3	23	6	13	1	Centrals
Lachlan Skelly	Orange City	22.2	3	101	5	13	1	Orange CYMS
Sam MacPherson	Rugby Union	5	1	12	5	13	1	ORC
Josh Ward	Cavaliers	7.2	3	14	5	14	1	City Colts
Sam MacPherson	Rugby Union	15	4	51	6	14	2	Centrals

# **Umpires**

This season, we had 12 umpires officiate in our competition.

Umpire	Matches
Cole, Garry	6
Dillon, Liam	2
Glazebrook, Graeme	9
Jones, Greg	8
King, Chris	13
Kopp, Michael	1
McAulley, Garry	9
McLean, Scott	2
Warburton, David	3
Warburton, Nick	1
Warrington, Steve	11
Whale, Andrew	10

# **Spirit of Cricket**

At the completion of each match during the season, the umpire/s scored each team out of 10 for spirit of cricket. Below is each team's average score across the season.

Team	Avg
Bathurst City	8.36
Cavaliers	7.82
Centrals	8.55
City Colts	7.67
Orange City	8.27
Orange CYMS	8.31
ORC	8.00
Rugby Union	7.83
St Pats Old Boys	7.89

# **BOIDC PREMIERSHIP WINNERS – McDONALDS CUP**

Season	Premiers	Runners Up
1992-93	Orange City	O.R.C.
1993-94	Centennials	Cavaliers
1994-95	Centennials	St Pat's
1995-96	St Pat's	O.R.C.
1996-97	O.R.C.	Orange City
1997-98	O.R.C.	Orange City
1998-99	Orange City	Cavaliers
1999-00	O.R.C.	Cavaliers
2000-01	Cavaliers	O.R.C.
2001-02	Centennials	O.R.C.
2002-03	Cavaliers	O.R.C.
2003-04	Cavaliers	Orange City
2004-05	Cavaliers	C.Y.M.S.
2005-06	Cavaliers	Bathurst City
2006-07	Cavaliers	C.Y.M.S.
2019-20	Orange City	Cavaliers
2020-21	Orange City	St Pat's Old Boys
2021-22	St Pat's Old Boys	Cavaliers
2022-23	Cavaliers	C.Y.M.S.

# **Premiership Titles**

- 7 Cavaliers
- 4 Orange City
- 3 Centennials
- 3 O.R.C.
- 2 St Pats / St Pats Old Boys

# **BOIDC PLAYER OF THE YEAR WINNERS – SPORTSPOWER CUP**

Season	Player	Club
1992-93	Craig Evers	Cavaliers
	Kevin Geyer	Centennials
1993-94	Wayne Comerford	Centennials
1994-95	Graeme Lendrum	O.R.C.
1995-96	Kent French	O.R.C.
1996-97	Kent French	O.R.C.
1997-98	Mark Gardner	Orange City
1998-99	Peter Francis	St Pats
1999-00	Nathan Rosser	Orange City
2000-01	Craig Evers	Cavaliers
2001-02	Craig Evers	Cavaliers
2002-03	Gavin McDonald	CYMS
2003-04	Allen Sullivan	Cavaliers
2004-05	Andrew Rutledge	Orange City
2005-06	Shaun Grenfell	Orange City
	Matt Willis	Bathurst City
2006-07	Scott Rice	Bathurst City
2019-20	Matt Corben	Cavaliers
2020-21	Russell Gardner	City Colts
2021-22	Kyle Aubin	Centennials Bulls
2022-23	Cooper Brien	St Pats Old Boys